ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Dorchester County

Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2012-UP-576 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 10/24/2012)

07-GS-18-1755

RECEIVED

MAY 15 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TREVEE J. GETHERS,

PETITIONER

Appellate Case No. 2013-000617

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming Petitioner's conviction for murder and the trial judge's failure to direct a verdict of acquittal where the evidence adduced at trial did not rise above mere suspicion because the circumstantial evidence suggested only that Petitioner was near the murder scene when the decedent was fatally shot?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted for murder by the Dorchester County Grand Jury during its December 3, 2007 term (2007-GS-18-1755). R. 431-432. He was tried before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein and a jury beginning on November 15, 2010. R. 1. He was represented by Sara Jayne Rogers. The state was represented by Russell D. Hilton and Harrison Bell, Jr. R. 1. He was convicted and sentenced to forty-five years' incarceration. R. 406, lines 4-7; R. 425, line 25 – R. 426, l. 2. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best of the Office of Appellate Defense. On October 24, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. App. 1-2; State v. Gethers, 2012-UP-576 (Ct. App. filed Oct. 24, 2012). On November 6, 2012, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 3-7. By order filed February 22, 2013, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 8.

Petitioner now files this timely petition for writ of certiorari.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming Petitioner's conviction for murder and the trial judge's failure to direct a verdict of acquittal where the evidence adduced at trial did not rise above mere suspicion because the circumstantial evidence suggested only that Petitioner was near the murder scene when the decedent was fatally shot.

Relevant facts

Petitioner was convicted of the murder of Earl Robinson which occurred on September 17, 2007. Earlier on that date, the decedent had borrowed \$200 from his son, Marcus. The decedent was found seated in the driver's seat of a white Toyota Sequoia in the parking lot of apartment complex. R. 69, l. 3 - R. 72, l. 5. He had been shot once in the arm, with the bullet entering his chest and mortally wounding him. R. 221, ll. 5-23.

Neighbors in the apartment complex heard arguing in the parking lot just prior to the gunshots, although no one identified Petitioner as the one arguing with the decedent. R. 52, l. 12 – R. 53, l. 12; R. 61, lines 4-8. The apartment complex was known as a very high crime area and gunshots were “fairly common.” R. 63, ll. 5-7; R. 56, ll. 12-15 (testimony by a neighbor that “arguments happen a lot” in the neighborhood); R. 60, ll. 19-23 (testimony by a neighbor that arguments were “common around there” and he had “learned to tune it out”); R. 66, ll. 6-12 (testimony by a neighbor that hearing “pop-pop” was not unusual and “it always happened in the neighborhood”); R. 67, ll. 6-14 (testimony by a neighbor that violence was a common occurrence at the apartment complex); R. 77, ll. 9-15 (testimony by a police officer that the area was violent and he responded to multiple shootings there). An officer with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office confirmed that there were many fights and drug-related calls that occurred in the area. R. 72, l. 24 – R.73, l. 6. As law enforcement conducted their investigation, they seized a number of cigarette

butts, a .40 caliber gunshot shell, and a Bluetooth telephone headset. R. 84, ll. 8-19. Law enforcement did not analyze the cigarette butts that were located in the immediate area of the car. R. 84, ll. 20-23. The .40 caliber bullet was determined not to be relevant to the crime scene. R. 88, l. 20 - R. 89, l. 3.

Law enforcement also extracted thirty-four latent fingerprints from the decedent's car. R. 89, ll. 14-19. Three people were identified based on the presence of the fingerprints found on the car, but they were never pursued in connection with this investigation. R. 119, ll. 16-22. Later in their investigation, law enforcement obtained a buccal swab from Petitioner and obtained his DNA profile. R. 101, ll. 4-9.

Petitioner's DNA was found on the Bluetooth telephone headset that was found in the middle of the road near the apartment complex. Significantly, the telephone headset was not found close to where the decedent's body was located:

That was just inside the first crime scene tape that was stretched across the road. It was actually in front of Apartment F. It was not located anywhere around the vehicle. It was between Apartment F and Azalea Park, the apartment complex to the right. It was in that area on the road as you came in.

R. 123, ll. 4-9 (emphasis added).

Brandee Kiefer, Petitioner's girlfriend, recalled that around the time of this crime, she and Petitioner switched cars. R. 144, l. 18 – R. 147, l. 19. Veronica Kitt was another friend of Petitioner's. R. 155, l. 25 – R. 156, l. 2. She described the decedent as her friend as well. R. 156, ll. 3-13. She testified that on the date the decedent was killed, she was supposed to meet with him. He was expected to bring her money that evening because he intended to have sex with Kitt, who was fourteen-years old at the time. R. 156, l. 14 – R. 159, l. 9; R. 176, ll. 10-14. That evening, she was using her friend, Maggie Reid's, telephone. R. 157, ll. 1 - 2. At some point, after the decedent

was killed, Kitt and Petitioner drove to Virginia, and then eventually traveled to New York. R. 164, l. 4 – R. 165, l. 2.

During their investigation, law enforcement obtained the telephone that belonged to the decedent, and noticed a number of telephone calls that he made to his son and to the telephone that was registered to Reid, Kitt's friend. R. 188, l. 18 – R. 189, l. 17. Ultimately, their investigation led them to identify Petitioner's telephone number. R. 192, ll. 2-25. Law enforcement obtained search warrants based on telephone calls between Kitt and Petitioner, but those searches did not uncover anything of evidentiary value. Law enforcement also had identified Petitioner's fingerprints located on the passenger side of the decedent's car. Other fingerprints were also located on the car, but they were not identified by law enforcement. R. 193, ll. 6-10; R. 196, ll. 15-17; R. 262, ll. 8-12. Law enforcement never located the murder weapon even after exhaustively searching the area. R. 193, l. 5 – R. 197, l. 18. Ultimately, Kitt and Petitioner were located in New York City. R. 199, ll. 2 - 19.

Kitt gave a statement to law enforcement that suggested that she had Petitioner meet with the decedent in order to take his money. At trial, she did not testify to these facts, but her statement was found admissible as a prior inconsistent statement. R. 208, l. 2 - R. 209, l. 23; R. 204, ll. 6-16. In exchange for cooperation, Kitt's charge of murder remained in the jurisdiction of Family Court. R. 279, ll. 7-11.

Petitioner's DNA was located on the Bluetooth headset that was found in the middle of the road at the apartment complex. R. 328, l. 2 – R. 330, l. 25. Petitioner did not testify at trial. R. 343, ll. 4 - 7.

At the close of the prosecution's case, counsel made a motion for directed verdict, which was renewed at the end of the case. R. 346, ll. 10-18. The trial court judge denied the motions. R. 346, ll. 19 -- 21.

Discussion

The trial court judge erred when she denied Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict because the evidence adduced at trial did not rise above the level of providing a "mere suspicion" that Petitioner was guilty of murder. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's decision.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103S.C. 437, 88 S.E.2d 1 (1916); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused," the trial judge may deny the motion for directed verdict. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001); State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000); State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000). When the prosecution relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge must direct a verdict in the defendant's favor unless there is any substantial circumstantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the defendant or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011); State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000). Likewise, a directed verdict is appropriate when the evidence produced "merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty." Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 389-390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004); State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984); State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 524 S.E.2d 637 (Ct. App. 1999). Our courts define suspicion as "a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof." Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256; State v. Hyder, 242 S.C. 372, 131 S.E.2d 96 (1963).

In Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the lower court erred in failing to direct a verdict where the only evidence presented against the defendant was his fingerprint at the scene of the burglary. Likewise, the Lollis Court directed a verdict of acquittal in the defendant's favor where the state presented no direct evidence that Lollis was involved in setting fire to his home. The only circumstantial evidence against Lollis was that his wife admitted to the arson, he had placed valuables in storage prior to the fire, he possessed a key to the storage unit, and he allegedly had financial troubles. Our state supreme court found this evidence insufficient. Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584-585, 541 S.E.2d at 256-257.

In State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2012), the Court held the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict based upon a lack of substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant was involved in the burglary. Although Odems was in a car with other individuals who admittedly burglarized a home, the state failed to provide substantial circumstantial evidence that Odems was present during the home invasion. The witness who saw individuals at the home claimed she saw two, not three as were found in the car. Fingerprints collected from the stolen goods did not match Odems, but matched the other individuals in the car. One of the individuals who admitted his involvement claimed Odems was picked up after the burglary at a gas station. Id. at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51. As explained by the Odems Court, although our courts have abandoned the traditional circumstantial evidence jury charge, the language of the charge is instructive in making a directed verdict determination. The traditional charge provided:

Every circumstance relied upon by the State be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and ... all of the circumstances proven be consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis.

Id. at 590, 720 S.E.2d at 52 (quoting State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 626 n.2, 677 S.E.2d 603, 606 n.2 (2009)).

In one of the Supreme Court's most recent circumstantial evidence case, State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 141, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011), the Court held the prosecution failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of Bostick's guilt. Rather, the state's evidence was capable of producing only a suspicion of Bostick's guilt. Id. Although the police found items belonging to the victim in a burn pile behind the home of Bostick's mother, the Court held no evidence linked Bostick to the evidence in the burn pile and the prosecution presented no testimony that Bostick had control over the burn pile. Id. at 137-141, 708 S.E.2d at 775-778. The only other evidence presented against Bostick was that he had a chemical pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was used to start the fire at the victim's home, and DNA from blood on Bostick's jeans excluded ninety-nine percent of the population, but the expert could not testify the DNA matched the victim. Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778.