STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Appeal from Dorchester County
Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000617

JUL 12 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TREVEE J. GETHERS,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

Mr. David M. Pascoe Jr.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525
Orangeburg, SC 29116
(803) 533-6252

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

In light of Veronica K.’s responses concerning her statement to the Sheriff’s Department, which was given in the presence of her attorney and after she had waiver her rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) (*see R. pp. 201-02*), the State was permitted to introduce a redacted version of it, as **State’s Exhibit 33**, and it was published to the jury through Det. Garrison.⁶ In her

⁶ The trial judge’s ruling on this issue is at **R. pp. 202-07.**

statement, she said that:

I called Mr. Earl for some money. He said he would bring the money, but he wasn't going to bring me money without getting some. He wanted some in the past, but I kept tricking him. I told him to go to the Haven Oaks because I didn't want my momma to know about Mr. Earl bringing me the money. Mr. Earl was bringing me more than \$50.00 because I asked him for some money. He thought we were going to a motel. I told Trevee Gethers "City" to get the money because I didn't want to mess with Mr. Earl. I told Trevee that Mr. Earl was in a white Sequoia because that's what Mr. Earl told me he was driving. I didn't tell Trevee to shoot Mr. Earl, I just told Trevee to get the money. I didn't know Trevee shot Mr. Earl. . . . I called Trevee after [(sic)] to see if he got the money, and he said no. Trevee said that Mr. Earl wouldn't give him the money. I didn't see Trevee until the next day and he said we had to go because he got in some stuff. I knew we were running from something. We went to a lady's house In Virginia on the air base. We went to Dro mama's house. [(sic)] Dro and Tam followed us to Virginia. Then we took the bus to New York. I have gotten money from Mr. Earl before and that's how I knew I could call him for money.

Question: Has Mr. Earl ever been to [the apartments where he was killed] before?

Answer: Yes, he has brought me money there behind Bi-Lo, but I still had to give him directions.

State's Exhibit 33, R. pp. 429-30. See also R. pp. 207-09.⁷

Also, SLED Agent Ila Simmons, who was qualified as an expert in trace evidence and gunshot residue, testified that a gunshot residue test performed on the victims hands early in the morning after the murder (**R. pp. 87-88**) revealed the presence of metals on the palm and the back of his right hand that "could be associated with gunshot residue."⁸ And on the palm of the left hand

⁷ Despite a diligent search, the murder weapon was not found. Nor did officers locate a shell casing for the bullet that killed the victim. **R. pp. 193-94**. However, a SLED expert in firearms analysis, testified that the bullet that killed the victim was "most consistent with bullets that we have found loaded into .38 special caliber and .357 magnum caliber cartridges," and that the crimping cannellure on the bullet suggested that the gun was a revolver, as opposed to a semi-automatic pistol. **R. pp. 299-02**.

⁸ The parties stipulated that there was a complete chain of custody for the gunshot residue samples from the time of the collection until they were tested. **R. p. 278**.

there were also metals that were consistent with gunshot residue.” Agent Simmons further opined that her findings were “most consistent with someone having or being in the vicinity of the weapon when it was discharged because the concentrations that we found are more consistent with being in front of a gun when it's discharged than handling or firing a gun.” **R. pp. 313; 316-21.**

Officer Kalisha Gill, a forensic latent print examiner for the Charleston Police Department, testified that Det. Asbell submitted the latent prints that he had lifted from the Robinsons’ SUV to her for analysis. When she ran these prints through A.F.I.S., she got a “hit.” The prints “came back to the fingerprint card bearing the name [of] Trevee Gethers.” **R. pp. 248-55.**

However, A.F.I.S. is only a tool used to narrow the list of potential suspects and a conclusive match can only be made after manual comparison of latent prints with known standards. So, she was provided a set of Gethers’ major case prints (**State’s Exhibit 40**), which she compared with the latent prints that had been submitted.⁹ She also received known prints from Quintavious Dominique Davis, the victim, Veronica K., Michael Amos Ritchey, Jr., and Donsurvi Chisholm. However, she did not receive known prints of either Mrs. Robinson or Marcus Brothers. **R. pp. 255-56; 262-63.**

Using the locations to which Det. Asbell testified that he had lifted prints, State’s Exhibit 26, and Officer Gill expert analysis, the State presented the following evidence regarding the latent prints found on the recently-washed SUV:

- **State's Exhibit 20** (latent lift number 10), which was taken from the passenger rear door in the center of the door, was Gethers’ left palm;
- **State's Exhibit 22** (latent lift number 8), which was taken from “just above the pinstripes on the passenger’s front door, was Gethers’ left index finger;

⁹ Jayon Wright is employed at the Charleston County Detention Center. He testified that he took a set of Gethers’ fingerprints and palm prints (**State’s Exhibit 40**) when he booked Gethers, on May 11, 2007. **R. pp. 231-34.**

- **State's Exhibit 16** (latent lift number 3), which was taken from the door post on the passenger's side front door, was Gethers' left index finger;
- **State's Exhibit 18** (latent lift number 5), which was taken from the door post on the passenger side rear door, was Gethers' left middle finger and his left palm;
- **State's Exhibit 17** (latent lift number 4), which was taken from the passenger rear door to the center of the door, was Gethers' left thumb;
- **State's Exhibit 19** (latent lift number 11), which was also taken from the passenger rear door in the center of the door, was Gethers' left thumb;
- **State's Exhibit 12** (latent lift number 19), which was taken from the edge of the driver's door, was the left middle and left ring fingers of Michael Ritchey;
- **State's Exhibit 9** (latent lift number 22), which was taken from the glass of the driver's side rear window, was Michael Ritchey's right palm;
- **State's Exhibit 8** (latent lift number 21), which was taken from the rear driver's window close to the front door, was Michael Ritchey's left palm;
- **State's Exhibit 6** (latent lift number 23), which was taken from the driver's side quarter panel between the back door and the window, was the victim's right middle and right ring fingers;
- **State's Exhibit 11** (latent lift number 16), which was taken from the driver's side door to the left of center of the door, was the victim's left middle finger and Michael Ritchey's left palm;
- **State's Exhibit 14** (latent lift number 12), which was taken from the "rear passenger's side edge just above the pinstripe, was the victim's left middle and left ring fingers.

R. pp. 256-62. See also R. pp. 90-101 (Testimony of Earl Asbell); State's Exhibit 26.

Later in the investigation, a Buccal swab of Gethers' DNA was obtained pursuant to a search warrant.¹⁰ **R. pp. 100-02.** Also, the Bluetooth headset was submitted to SLED's DNA laboratory for testing. SLED Agent Lilly Gallman, a forensic DNA analyst, testified that she was able to develop

¹⁰ This was done on September 3, 2010. **R. pp. 101-02.**

a DNA profile off of the Bluetooth headset.¹¹ She was also able to determine that the profile “was a mixture of at least three individuals. The DNA profile of the major contributor to that particular mixture was from an unknown male individual.” **R. pp. 325-29.**

Agent Gallman placed the profile into the Combined DNA Index System (CODAS), which is a DNA database, and this resulted in a “hit:” the DNA of the major contributor to the profile matched Gethers’ DNA. Because so many samples are in the CODAS database, she followed protocol and requested a standard of Gethers’ DNA to guard against possible error. She thereafter compared the standard obtained from Gethers (**State’s Exhibit 48**) to the profile developed from the Bluetooth headset. When she did so, she found that “the major contributor in . . . the swabs that came from the Bluetooth headset[] matched the DNA profile of Trevee Gethers.” Also, she opined that “[t]he probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual having a DNA profile matching the major contributor to this mixture is approximately one in 26 quadrillion.” **R. pp. 329-33.**¹²

Dr. Erin Presnell, a forensic pathologist employed at the Medical University of South Carolina, performed the autopsy on the victim. Dr. Presnell explained that the victim had “one major injury.” She described this injury as follows:

He has a single gunshot wound. It actually enters in his right arm. It goes through his right arm just through the soft tissue, exits the right arm and goes into the right chest. It hits the right lung. It goes through the heart as well as the aorta, which is the main blood vessel taking blood to the rest of your body. It goes through the left lung and also hits the left rib and partially exits. So you actually have a hole in the skin where the bullet's exiting, where the bullet's still there and hanging on right there. So this is a partial exit gunshot wound.

¹¹ The parties stipulated that there was a complete chain of custody for both the Buccal swabs and the Bluetooth headset. **R. pp. 278-79.**

¹² There are roughly 6.5 billion people on earth. **R. p. 334.**

R. pp. 216; 220-21.

Dr. Presnell testified that the bullet had traveled “pretty much straight across,” but “slightly backwards on him a little bit.” **R. p. 221.** She opined that her findings were consistent with the victim’s right arm being either raised in a defensive posture or on the steering wheel when the shot was fired. Also, assuming the victim was seated in the driver’s seat when shot, she opined that the shot came from the passenger side of the vehicle. She further opined that the gunshot wound was the cause of death; and she explained that, because the wound pierced the heart and aorta, “I can’t imagine him being conscious over the seconds range” after the shooting. **R. pp. 227-31.**

The other “defining characteristic” of this wound was that the presence of “a fairly concentrated amount of stippling marks around the entrance wound to his arm.” Based upon this finding, Dr. Presnell opined that it was “close-range gunshot wound” that had been fired “within a yard or less from him.” Dr. Presnell recovered the bullet from the body. **R. pp. 221-23.**

2. The directed verdict motion and ruling.

At the close of the prosecution’s case, Gethers moved for a directed verdict, but he did not make any argument in support of his motion. **R. p. 337, lines 10 - 12.** Without calling upon the State to respond, the trial judge denied his motion. She found that:

it is not for the Court to weigh the evidence, that is for the jury. It's for the Court to determine whether or not there is evidence on each and every element, including any inferences reached, and of course from which the jury can reasonably determine guilt. And I find that there is evidence on each and every element from which the jury could reasonably determine guilt, and I would respectfully deny your motion.

R. p. 337, lines 13-22.

Prior to the defense’s closing argument, Gethers renewed his directed verdict motion, and the trial judge again denied it. **R. p. 372, lines 21-25.**

B. Discussion.

The State initially submits that Gethers' argument is not properly before this Court on appeal because, as shown, counsel only made a general motion for a directed verdict, and it is settled that "a general directed verdict motion . . . does not preserve any issue for appeal." *State v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 612, 723 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2012) ("A general directed verdict motion, however, does not preserve any issue for appeal") (citing *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989)). Having failed to present his present arguments to the trial judge, they may not be raised on appeal because "[a] party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal." *Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584.¹³

Even assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds that his argument is not procedurally barred, the trial judge's ruling must be affirmed. In *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50, this Court set forth the applicable law governing the review of directed verdict motions in criminal cases:

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001). However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence

¹³ It does not appear that the Court of Appeals relied upon the procedural bar. See **App. p. 2**. As a result, Respondent as raised this procedural bar as an additional sustaining ground. Likewise, neither the Initial Brief of Appellant (**IBOA, pp. 5-9**), nor the Petition for Rehearing (**App. pp. 3-7**), presented the analysis of *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000), *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 584, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001), or *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011), found at pp. 9-10 of the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, although *Mitchell* and *Lollis* were cited in the Initial Brief. Therefore, it would be improper for this Court to consider his arguments on certiorari. See Rule 208 (b)(1)(D), SCACR ("particular issue to be addressed shall be set forth in distinctive type, followed by discussion and citations of authority"); *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281, 282 n. 3 (2003) (an issue must also be argued fully in the initial brief of appellant to be preserved for the Court's consideration); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (the failure to provide arguments or cite to authority in support of argument constitutes abandonment of issue on appeal); Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari ..."); *Camp v. Springs Mortgage Corp.*, 310 S.C. 514, 516, 426 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1993) (declining to address issue not addressed by the court of appeals and not raised in petition for rehearing).

reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. *State v. Pinckney*, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000) (emphasis added). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451–52 (1984).

(Emphasis in original). *See also State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776-77 (2011) (setting forth standard where State relies solely on circumstantial evidence).

Applying this standard to the case at bar, the trial judge's ruling must be affirmed because, notwithstanding Gethers' argument to the contrary, the State presented both direct and substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove his guilt of murder. First, Mr. and Mrs. Ritchey heard two men arguing in the parking lot immediately before the shooting. Before Mr. Ritchey could reach the victim's still-running SUV, the assailant had fled. Likewise, the first officer on the scene arrived within moments of the dispatch for the shooting and he did not see anyone running, even though the smoke from the gunpowder was still in the cabin when he opened the SUV. However, a Bluetooth headset, which was still activated and had Gethers' DNA on it, was found between the area of the parking lot where the victim's car had been and the nearby apartments, where Gethers' co-defendant and girlfriend, Veronica K. lived.

Second, the phone records (*see State's Exhibits 42-43*) reflected the calls between Veronica K. and the victim, and between Veronica and Gethers. She called Gethers up until almost the time of the shooting. Also, although she made numerous calls to the victim's phone before the shooting, she did not call the victim after 10:58 p.m., which was only one minute after the 911 calls had been placed. Also, Ms. Reid testified that Veronica was dating Gethers at the time and that she saw Gethers talking to Veronica on the night of the 17th.

Third, Veronica K.'s statement, **State's Exhibit 33**, also clearly implicates Gethers in the

crime. In it, she admitted that she asked Gethers to get money from the victim and she told him what vehicle the victim was driving. She further indicates that he later told her that he did not get the money, which was corroborated by the testimony of the victim's wife that over \$ 199.00 of the \$ 200.00 the victim had borrowed from his son was returned to her.

Her statement also implicates Gethers in the murder, including evidence of flight from the jurisdiction and the use of a car that did not belong to Gethers and fake identification cards to elude capture. In the statement, she stated that "I didn't tell Trevee to shoot Mr. Earl, I just told Trevee to get the money. I didn't know Trevee shot Mr. Earl." Veronica also said that "I didn't see Trevee until the next day and he said we had to go because he got in some stuff. I knew we were running from something." **State's Exhibit 33, R. p. 429-30.**

The evidence of flight was corroborated by both Det. Garrison and Kiefer. Clearly, flight from prosecution is admissible as evidence of guilt in South Carolina. *State v. Pagan*, 357 S.C. 132, 591 S.E.2d 646 (2003); *State v. Al-Amin*, 353 S.C. 405, 578 S.E.2d 32 (Ct.App. 2003). Evidence of flight has been held to constitute evidence of defendant's guilty knowledge and intent. *Pagan, supra*; *see also State v. Thompson*, 278 S.C. 1, 292 S.E.2d 581 (1982) (finding that evidence of flight was admissible to show guilty knowledge, intent, and that defendant sought to avoid apprehension), *overruled on other grounds, State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). Moreover and unlike the factual scenario in *Odems*, the totality of the circumstances in this case created an inference that Gethers had knowledge that law enforcement would look for him and Veronica in connection with the shooting. *Contra Odems*, 395 S.C. at 589-90, 720 S.E.2d at 52. *Accord Pagan, supra*; *State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 315, 513 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1999).

Further, testimony of prior inconsistent statements may be "used as substantive evidence

when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross examination.” *State v. Copeland*, 278 S.C. 572, 581, 300 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1982); *see also In re Richard D.*, 388 S.C. 95, 100, 693 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct.App. 2010) (“Even if the family court had limited the admissibility of the statement, that does not negate the fact that consideration of the statement as substantive evidence in a directed verdict analysis would have been proper under *Copeland* and [*State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434 (2009)]”); *State v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 442, 447–48, 424 S.E.2d 496, 499 (1992) (exclusion prior inconsistent statement of defendant's nephew constituted reversible error); *State v. Ferguson*, 300 S.C. 408, 411, 388 S.E.2d 642, 644 (1990) (exclusion of victim's prior inconsistent statement as substantive evidence was harmless error when other evidence was cumulative of statement); *State v. Crawford*, 362 S.C. 627, 634, 608 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct.App. 2005) (co-conspirator's later testimony did not obviate the efficacy of the first statement made closer in time to the event in question); *State v. Caulder*, 287 S.C. 507, 513, 339 S.E.2d 876, 880 (Ct.App. 1986) (trial court erroneously instructed jury to disregard witness's prior inconsistent statement for substantive purposes). Gethers’ argument that Veronica K.’s statement was untrustworthy is contrary to well settled authority that, in reviewing an appeal from denial of a directed verdict motion, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State.” *E.g., Lollis*, 343 S.C. at 583, 541 S.E.2d at 256; *Burdette*, 335 S.C. at 46, 515 S.E.2d at 531. His argument likewise ignores that “[i]n reviewing a motion for directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not with its weight.” *State v. Curtis*, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998).

Both Veronica’s statement and her testimony reveal a crystal clear motive in this case: greed for the money that the victim was carrying and, inferably, the killing occurred when Gethers did not

get they money as he and Veronica had planned. Additionally, Respondent would note that Gethers' fingerprints and palm print from his left hand - and only his - were found on the passenger's side of the recently-washed white Toyota Sequoia SUV that was driven by the victim. Prints belonging to Mr. Ritchey were found elsewhere on the vehicle, and circumstantially corroborated his testimony. This was important because the pathologist opined that the victim was shot from the passenger's side of the car. There was also no evidence that the victim was armed.

Thus, this case is readily distinguishable from *Odems*, *Bostick* and *Lollis*, cases where the Court held that the State's evidence created only a mere suspicion of guilt. For instance, in *Odems*, the Court found that "[t]he State's case against Petitioner relied primarily on three pieces of circumstantial evidence: (1) the fact that less than ninety minutes after the burglary, police located Petitioner in the getaway car with the burglars and the stolen goods; (2) Petitioner fled from law enforcement; and (3) Petitioner asked an uninvolved person to lie for him." *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 590-91, 720 S.E.2d at 51. Also, in *Bostick*, the State only presented evidence that "(1) investigators found personal items belonging to Polite, including a watch and two sets of car keys, in a burn pile located on the Bostick family property; (2) Bostick's shoes contained a pattern that matched gasoline, and gasoline was the accelerant used to start the house fire; (3) and investigators found blood on the clothes Bostick was wearing the day of the murder, but that evidence could not be matched to Polite's DNA." However, no motive was established. *See Odems*, 395 S.C. at 586-87, 720 S.E.2d at 50 (citing *Bostick*, 392 S.C. at 141-42, 708 S.E.2d at 778).

Here, however, there was an undeniable motive. Moreover, the direct and circumstantial evidence was such that "all of the circumstances proven [were] consistent with each other and taken together, point[ed] conclusively to the guilt of [Gethers] to the exclusion of every other reasonable

hypothesis.” *Contra Odems*, 395 S.C. at 590, 720 S.E.2d at 52 .

II. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to find that Gethers' argument was not properly before it on appeal because Gethers only made a general motion for a directed verdict at trial and he did not make any of the arguments at trial that have been subsequently made on appeal. [Additional Sustaining Ground]

It does not appear that the Court of Appeals found that Gethers' argument was procedurally barred, although he did not make the same argument in the trial court. **App. p. 2.** Therefore, as an additional sustaining ground, Respondent submits that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to find that Gethers' argument was not properly before it on appeal because Gethers only made a general motion for a directed verdict at trial and he did not make any of the arguments at trial that have been subsequently made on appeal.

As argued above, Gethers' argument was not properly before the Court of Appeals and is not properly before this Court on certiorari because, as shown, counsel only made a general motion for a directed verdict, and it is settled that "a general directed verdict motion . . . does not preserve any issue for appeal." *Sterling*, 396 S.C. at 612, 723 S.E.2d at 183 ("A general directed verdict motion, however, does not preserve any issue for appeal") (citing *Bailey, supra*). Having failed to present his present arguments to the trial judge, they may not be raised on appeal because "[a] party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal." *Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584. Therefore, certiorari must be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should deny certiorari to review the judgment of the lower court and Gethers's conviction.